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Sea Venture Second interim report— part 2: the artefacts

Allan J. Wingood
Box HM 254, Hamilton 5, Bermuda

Introduction

Sea Venture was an English emigrant ship of
300 tons. On 2 June 1609 as flagship of a fleet of
nine vessels Sea Venture sailed from Plymouth,
Devon with settlers and supplies for the infant
colony of Jamestown, Virginia.

Separated from the other ships six weeks
later in a hurricane said to have inspired
Shakespeare’s last play, “The Tempest’, she was
stranded on Bermuda’s reefs, leading to the
colonization of the island by the English in
1612.

An interim report on the preliminary investi-
gation in 1958 and 1959, and subsequent work
from 1978 to 1981 appeared in the November
1982 issue of I/NA. On 14 November of that
year the Sea Venture Trust was formally inaug-
urated in order to continue the archaeological
investigation of this shipwreck to the highest
possible standards. The Bermuda law firm of
Appleby, Spurling and Kempe kindly donated
all the necessary legal services and the Board of
Governors of the Trust included businessmen
with the welfare of Bermuda’s most historic
shipwreck at heart.

A provision attached to the diving licence
required that a qualified underwater archaeol-
ogist be obtained to consult and advise on the
exploration and documentation of the wreck.
On the recommendation of Margaret Rule,
Director of the Mary Rose project, Jonathan
Adams, came to Bermuda in that capacity. As
archaeological director he has made six visits to
Bermuda, and with the author as project super-
visor and a competent group of local volunteer
divers the primary aims of the Trust have been
implemented. They were to excavate and record
the wreck, and to collect, record, research,
preserve and ultimately display the artefacts
retrieved for the people of Bermuda for all time.
Although the artefacts were to remain the
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property of the Crown, the Bermuda Maritime
Museum was designated custodian for their
display.

On 2 September 1984 a well-conceived exhibit
at the Bermuda Maritime Museum was opened
by the Governor of Bermuda, His Excellency,
the Viscount Dunrossil. This exhibit will be
added to in the future as more information
comes to light.

An interim report mentioned above (IJNA,
1982, 11.4: 333—47) covered the work to July
1981. A second interim report part I by J.R.
Adams has been presented in IJJNA (1985, 14.4:
275-99), and deals with the hull and the work of
the 1982 and 1983 seasons. This paper, forming
part 2 of the second interim report will discuss
and illustrate various classes of artefacts
recovered in the 1982 and 1983 seasons and in-
clude several recovered during the 1984 season.
The reason for including the 1984 finds is that
the material is considered in groups rather than
being presented as a catalogue.

Armament

Seventeen examples of linked shot with no dis-
cernible variation have been found in a widely
scattered context. They are made entirely of
lead, are cast in one piece with the sprue clipped
and are believed to be small bar shot for use in a
swivel gun to repel boarders. On 22 February
1827 Samuel Rush Meyrick, a student and
collector of armour, read a paper entitled Ob-
servations upon the History of Hand Fire-arms
and their Appurtances to the Society of
Antiquaries. The section of the paper dealing
with the musket describes a type of shot for use
with that weapon as follows ... ‘The balles-
rameées, or branch-bullets, formed of two held
together by a small iron cylinder about half an
inch long, no doubt to prevent the rotary
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Figure 1. Double-headed lead shot. Cast in one piece

with the sprue clipped.

motion which occasions its never being carried
with certainty, were used for it, and considered
to be very effective’ (page 75). This parallels a
description in Harfords Military Discipline
(London, 1680) of a similar missile (Wingood,
1982: 341). A photograph of this object is

offered again in the event anyone can assist in-

its positive identification (Fig. 1).

The heavily encrusted basket hilt (Fig. 2)
raised in 1981 was X-rayed cleaned and drawn
at the Department of Archaeology of the
Colonial Williamsburg Foundation, Virginia

(Fig. 3). This firmly dated piece establishes
beyond doubt that the English basket hilt had
developed its characteristic form by the
beginning of the 17th century (Credland, 1982:
202).

In the 1982 interim report mention was made
of a very basic type of dagger in use from the
14th to the 17th century, a kidney dagger or
ballock knife. The drawing of this weapon
shows the diamond shaped blade in section
(Fig. 4). It is understood that many examples of
pommels of these daggers in good condition
were found during the excavation of Mary
Rose, although the blades had not survived.

Ceramics

West of England plain pottery is continually
being found and it is hoped that eventually
many of the fragments can be cross-mended
into complete jars. Most of the fragments
appear to come from baluster storage jars
approximately 0-35m tall with rims measuring
0:-15m in diameter (Wingood, 1982: 341)
although rim sherds indicating a vessel with a
rim diameter of 0-25m and so far unknown
height were found in 1983. In addition to the
two intact baluster jars from the Sea Venture
the author has seen similar jars in Devon,
England—one at the Merchants House,
Plymouth, the port of Sea Venture’s departure,
and a second example taken from an excavation

Figure 2. The heavily encrusted basket hilt of a broadsword as found on the sea bed.
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Figure 3.
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Figure 4.

Drawing of the sword hilt after cleaning. Courtesy of the Colonial Williamsburg Foundation.

CM

Ballock knife or kidney dagger, a popular item of personal weaponry from the 14th until well into the

17th century, showing the diamond-shaped blade in section.

in Joy Street, Barnstaple. Both these jars were
0-35m tall.

In May 1983 a tankard with a glossy dark
brown glaze was found in excellent overall con-
dition except for a triangular section measuring
7-8 cm by 8-3 cm broken from one side. It stands
10-8 cm tall, with a top diameter of 7-1 cm and a

bottom diameter of 7-9 cm. Three bands of rill-
ing decorate the tankard above the handle and
four bands below (Fig. 5).

Personal items
Pewter spoon fragments, including knops,
pieces of stem and stems with bowl fragments
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Figure 5. Earthenware tankard with glossy dark brown

glass datable to [6th century. Drawing by J.
Geisen.

have been retrieved on many dives since 1978,
the majority being the type referred to as
slipped-end spoons, i.e. the end of the stem is
cut off diagonally from the front to the back
(Fig. 6). Of the four spoons in relatively good
condition two have slipped tops, one has a
melon knop and the other an acorn knop, and
all have the characteristic ‘fig-shaped’ bowl of
the late 16th/early 17th century. Spoon no. 6a
has been cleaned by electrolysis and polished.
We believe that the stem of spoon no. 6b was
bent to shorten it, to make it easier to hold, to
make it more convenient to carry in the pocket
or to enable the owner to attach it to a lanyard.
This example appears to have the initial ‘H’ and
a touchmark on the inside of the bowl. Another
stem bent in this fashion had only a small sec-
tion of the bowl remaining. A spoon retrieved
in 1979 and now on exhibit at the Bermuda
Maritime Museum was cleaned by electrolytic
reduction at Texas A & M University and the
initials ‘M’ and possibly ‘B’ were found
scratched on the back of the bowl (Hoyt, 1984).

Two brass anglets, one undamaged and one
broken in half, both measuring 31-75 mm long
and 3-18 mm at the widest part, have been found
in the course of excavation. An anglet is the
tapering metal tip of a lacing cord or point, used
for attaching the hose to the doublet or lacing a
bodice, much as a shoe lace is used today. Each
Englishman planning to emigrate to Jamestown
was advised to take with him ‘one doozen of
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points’ (Cotter & Hudson, 1957: 49). Many
examples can be seen on clothing in portraits
painted during this period in history.

A badly eroded fragment of brass, recovered
in 1983, when cleaned proved to be a crowned
Tudor Rose measuring 27mm by 16 mm.
During the cleaning and preservation of this
object small pieces of leather were found adher-
ing to two prongs on the reverse side. This type
of decoration on- leather belts, pouches or
bandoliers was not uncommon in the 16th and
early 17th century (Rosemary Weinstein, per-
sonal communication). In a well-known por-
trait of Queen Elizabeth I, known as the Pelican
Portrait, an example of this particular design
may be seen. A reproduction of the Pelican
Portrait, so-called because a jewelled brooch
resembling a pelican is worn on the Queen’s
breast, can be seen in The Tudor Period, pub-
lished by the Connoisseur (1956, facing page
140) (Fig. 7).

As tobacco came into general use in England
¢. 1570 it was hoped that some evidence of pipe
smoking would be found, as pipes are an excel-
lent and well-recognised dating medium. Of
three stem fragments found in May 1983 two
measured 25 mm and 27 mm respectively, with
a bore of 7/64 inch, and the third measured
22 mm with a bore of 6/64 inch and had part
of a tear drop-shaped heel. In June we retrieved
the bowl and a section of the stem measuring
6-4 cm of a pipe which can be dated to between
1580 and 1610 (Oswald, 1975: 39, no. 3). The
bowl, measuring internally 1cm in diameter
and with slight traces of rouletting externally,
7/64 inch bore and tear drop-shaped heel
indicate that the pipe is typical of the late
Elizabethan period. A second, very similar pipe
was unearthed on 30th October 1984 from what
appeared to be previously undisturbed silt (Fig.
8). John Rolfe, who later married Pocohontas,
was a passenger on Sea Venture and in 1611-12
experimented with tobacco plants in Virginia
(he used Virginia plants as well as varieties from
the West Indies and South America), and was
successful in developing a sweet-scented leaf.
This became popular immediately, was for
many years the staple crop of the infant colony
of Jamestown and on its introduction into
England was an important factor in populariz-
ing the use of clay pipes (Cotter & Hudson,
1957: 81).
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Figure 6. A.Square-stemmed, acorn knopped pewter spoon, since cleaned by electrolysis. B. Slipped-end, hexagonal-
stemmed pewter spoon with what appears to be the initial ‘H’ and a touchmark on the bowl. C. Slipped-end,
hexagonal-stemmed pewter spoon in excellent condition. D. Melon-knopped pewter spoon with rounded
stem and elongated fig-shaped bown of the late 16th century.
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Figure 7.

Figure 8.

154

Eroded crowned Tudor Rose ornament of
brass, used as a decoration on leather belts,
pouches or bandoliers in the 16th and early
17th centuries.
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Two clay pipes with broken stems, showing
small bowls and large bore typical of the late
Elizabethan period. It is believed that the
stems of these early pipes were approxi-
mately 15cm long and 9mm in diameter.

In 1983 a badly degraded fragment of a bone
comb, of a type known as a close-and-narrow-
tooth comb was found. These combs, rectangu-
lar in shape, with teeth of different sizes along
their two opposite sides, were in use from
medieval times throughout the 17th and 18th
centuries (Noél Hume, 1978: 174).

Miscellaneous finds

Four plain, undecorated bronze pins have
been found (Fig. 9), paralleling examples dating
to prior to the 17th century, unearthed in
Amsterdam between 1954 and 1974. During the
14th and 15th centuries pins were made in the
home, but from the beginning of the [6th
century workshops for their manufacture were
established. The pin head was made by twisting
a piece of brass wire around two or three times
and attaching it to the pin. Small pins were used
for hand and needle work and the larger variety
as clothes fasteners. This type of pin was
replaced by one with a flat head in the 18th
century (Baart et al., 1977: 135).

The first example of three completely differ-
ent types of weight grouped together for con-
venience is a ! 1b merchants weight of lead in
excellent condition with the crowned I of James
1 and the sword of Saint Paul, the hallmark of
the City of London (Fig. 10). A weight of simi-
lar design weighing 1 1b (1129 g) was found in
1981 (Wingood, 1982: 345). The second weight,

Figure 9. Plain bronze pins similar to examples dating
to prior to the 17th century unearthed in
Amsterdam between 1954 and 1974.



